THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2019-001983

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JULIO ANDRES CASTILLO,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Tricia A. Blanchette
Post Office Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803) 908-3266

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

Apr 13 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court err by determining that the testimony of witness one was admissible at trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the July 2016 term of the York County Grand Jury, Julio Andres Castillo (Appellant) was indicted as follows: Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor, Second Degree (2016-GS-46-2193), Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor, Second Degree (2016-GS-46-2195), Lewd Act Upon a Child (2016-GS-46-2196), Lewd Act Upon a Child (2016-GS-46-2197), Lewd Act Upon a Child (2016-GS-46-2198), and Lewd Act Upon a Child (2016-GS-46-2199). On November 18, 2019, Appellant appeared for trial in front of the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., in the York County Court of General Sessions. Appellant was represented by Jack Swerling, Esquire, and Melissa Wilson, Esquire. The State was represented by Erin Joyner, Esquire, and Mathew Sheldon, Esquire.

At the close of the five day trial, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all charges. The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., sentenced Appellant to a concurrent term of twelve (12) years on all charges. Thereafter, a timely Notice of Appeal was filed, from which this Brief follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. The lower court erred by determining the testimony of witness one was admissible at trial.

- A. Standard of Review

The trial court has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his decision should not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Brazwell*, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the trial court is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law." *Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 567, 787 S.E.2d 498, 511 (2016); *see also State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768

S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2014) ("An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." (quoting *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166-67 (2007))).

B. Summary of the Relevant Facts

On November 18, 2019, Appellant appeared in front of the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., in the York County Court of General Sessions. Appellant was represented by Jack Swerling, Esquire, and Melissa Wilson, Esquire. The State was represented by Erin Joyner, Esquire, and Mathew Sheldon, Esquire. Prior to jury selection, the lower court undertook pre-trial matters. R. p. 6. Referencing an in chambers meeting, Ms. Joyner explained that the first issue "will ultimately determine which charges are presented to the jury for trial." R. p. 6, Ins. 14-17. Ms. Joyner informed the lower court that there were six charges as to victim one and two charges as to victim two. R. pp. 6-7. She referenced a "Memo in Support of Joinder" that contained a chart of all the charges, and she provided a copy to the court. R. p. 7, Ins. 16-24, p. 715. She indicated to the court that it was her understanding the defense was not "fighting joinder any longer," and the defense concurred. R. p. 7, Ins. 16-20, p. 8, Ins. 8.

Thereafter, Ms. Joyner proceeded with a motion under Rule 404(b), SCRE, for the stated purpose of introducing the testimony of witness one R. p. 8. She explained:

Okay, as we discussed in chambers, Your Honor, it is the State's belief that witness one's testimony is incredibly important to the case. And we would seek a findings as to admissibility of his testimony as to each of the brothers, victim one and victim two and depending on the Court's testimony we may only be calling victim one's trial today or tomorrow.

R. p. 9, Ins. 14-21. She further explained:

In the event that Your Honor were to determine that witness one's testimony could not be introduced in a case or trial in which victim two's charges were also being presented to the jury, the State would want to pull or sever victim two's case and still offer victim two as a 404(b) witness in victim one's case.

R. p. 10, lns. 13-19.

In response, Mr. Swerling informed the court that the defense was not objecting to the joinder of the cases. He further informed the court that the defense was not aware that the State intended to offer testimony on the *Lyle*¹ issue that day as he was only aware of “proffers and briefs.” R. p. 11, lns. 7-11. When asked about the defense’s reference to briefs, the State handed “it” up to the court. R. p. 11, lns. 12-15, p. 722. Ms. Joyner explained that she intended to offer live testimony due to the required “clear and convincing finding.” R. p. 12, lns. 15-21. The court determined that the testimony would start the following morning and asked if the defense had anything for the court to review. R. p. 13-14. The defense provided a brief with the clarification that it was prepared in response to the State’s filing and did not address all of the current issues. R. p. 14, lns. 15-22, p. 730.

The following morning, the State called victim one as their first witness in support of the Rule 404(b) motion. When victim one took the stand, he acknowledged that he was currently twenty-four years old and victim two was his younger brother by twenty months. R. pp. 19-20. He explained that he knew Appellant growing up, and Appellant served as his assistant choir director prior to Appellant buying a home two doors down from his childhood home. R. p. 21. He recalled being in the third or fourth grade when he began going over to Appellant’s home and that his brother would sometimes go with him. R. p. 22.

Throughout his testimony, he described the close relationship he had with Appellant. R. pp. 21, 34-35, 55-56. He explained that Appellant was close with his entire family. R. pp. 21, 34-35, 55-56. He confirmed that Appellant served as his confirmation mentor, youth group

¹ *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

volunteer in high school and youth choir mentor during his elementary years. R. pp. 34-35, 55-56. He also recalled Appellant attending his sporting events, being involved in his chess club and taking him and his brother on special outings. R. pp. 34, 55-56. He agreed that his close relationship with Appellant continued even after the last incident on the night before Appellant's wedding. R. pp. 35, 55.

Victim one recalled a trip whereby Appellant took his family to stay at Appellant's aunt's home on Dafuskie Island during his third grade year. R. pp. 22, 39. When asked if anything "noteworthy" happened, he recounted Appellant exposing his penis to him and his brother in bed one morning, and Appellant explaining that it looked different because it was uncircumcised. R. p. 22, ln. 22 – p. 23. ln. 11. On cross examination, he was asked if Appellant was walking around when it happened and he responded:

No, in the morning he was in his bedroom that was separate from ours and he had been staying in there. Victim two and I went to go see him. It was just like hey, good morning, kind of thing and we were hanging out in the bedroom with him and he was laying on the bed when he exposed himself.

R. p. 40, lns. 7-13. He further stated that Appellant's actions appeared intentional. R. p. 40, ln. 19-20.

When asked to generally describe what happened after the Dafuskie trip, he stated:

There were massages that would happen in his bedroom at his house when he had moved closer to us into our neighborhood. There was masturbation that happened in his bedroom. There was massages and masturbation that happened in the attic upstairs at his house and there was oral sex or fellatio that he performed on me both once in his bedroom and once in a bedroom in our house the day before his wedding. The night before his wedding.

R. p. 23, lns. 17-23. He further added that there was another time in the attic when Appellant hogtied him. R. p. 24, ln. 9-10. He explained the incident during which his brother was present, and he admitted it was not sexual in nature. R. pp. 36-37, 48.

He explained that nothing happened before the Dafuskie trip and the inappropriate conduct began with massaging. R. p. 24. When asked to explain what he meant by massaging, he stated:

I would lay on my stomach on the bed and he would sit on my legs and would massage my back, my arms and my legs usually it was with clothing on. He would massage over the clothing and then at times put his hands under the clothing as to massaging direct skin touch and then he would flip me over and would massage me doing the same thing above the clothing and then would sometimes slip his hands under the clothing and at times when I was on my back there was inadvertent touching -- or so I thought --inadvertent touching of my penis.

R. p. 24, ln. 22 – p. 25, ln. 5. On cross examination, he explained that clothes were kept on, but Appellant would go under his clothes at times. R. p. 44. He also explained what was meant by “alongside massage.” R. p. 50, lns. 4-10.

After being asked when the nature of the massages turned from inadvertent touching to masturbation, he recalled a time when he asked Appellant about a joke he heard in the fifth grade that dealt with masturbation. R. pp. 25-26. After explaining the joke to him, Appellant masturbated him on Appellant’s waterbed in Appellant’s home. R. p. 26. He explained how it took place and acknowledged that it was not to completion. R. pp. 26 -27.

Thereafter, he recalled that the massages would turn into masturbation. He further recalled that these incidents took place in Appellant’s bedroom and converted attic space on a bed. R. pp. 27-28. He estimated that there were five to six incidents. R. p. 37. He recalled Appellant utilizing baby oil as lubricant a couple of times. R. p. 36. When asked if his state of dress would change, he responded: “He would just like unzip my pants and pull them down.” R. p. 38, lns. 18-22. On cross examination, he agreed that neither of them would be fully naked and clothes were on to “varying degrees.” R. p. 49, lns. 7-22. He explained that it was typically Appellant massaging and masturbating him, but he did recall one instance when he touched

Appellant, as follows: “There was one instance that I can remember that he had been masturbating me and the I – that was paused and he had me touch him and massage him as well, but then it switched back to him masturbating me. It seemed like he was more interested in that.” R. p. 29, lns. 18-23. He affirmed that it was the only instance where he touched Appellant. R. pp. 29-30.

When asked about the two instances of fellatio, he recalled the instances occurred in two locations. He could not recall specific details from the instance in Appellant’s home, but he detailed the second instance that occurred the night before Appellant’s wedding in his home. R. pp. 30-33. Regarding the second instance, he recalled that it ended because he told Appellant that it “needed to stop.” R. p. 33, lns. 9-12. He affirmed that he had not previously told Appellant to stop, but he did in this instance knowing it was “somewhat wrong” since it was occurring in his parent’s home and the night before Appellant’s wedding. R. p. 33, lns. 13-24.

When asked on cross examination why he continued to interact with Appellant when these incidents were occurring, he explained that it did not occur to him that it was wrong or that he should suspect Appellant would do anything to hurt him. R. p. 53. He further responded that he knew it was wrong enough that he should not tell his parents. R. p. 53. He also detailed the continued close relationship he and his family had with Appellant after the final incident. R. pp. 55-57.

On redirect examination, he detailed an event involving nudity that occurred at Appellant’s parent’s home with just his brother, himself and Appellant present. R. p. 57. He explained that they went skinny dipping in the pool and hot tub. R. p. 57. On recross examination, he agreed nothing sexual happened that he could remember during that incident. R. p. 59. On redirect, he also acknowledged there was another incident of playing truth or dare with

his brother present, but he could not remember seeing anything specifically happen to his brother. R. p. 58, lns. 15-23.

As to when these events occurred, he explained that he would spend the night at Appellant's with his brother, go over to Appellant's with his brother and would go over to Appellant's alone. After being specifically asked if his brother was present during the events he had described, he responded: "My memories of the events in specific detail are of what happened to me but I do recall him being there in the general time frame of some of the abuses." R. p. 29, lns. 9-13. On cross examination, he reiterated that he did not have a memory of anything occurring to victim two in his presence, but he did recall that victim two was present during the hogtying incident and an additional time when the three were in bed together up in the attic. R. pp. 45-46. He recalled Appellant being in his twenties, owning a home in his neighborhood and living alone until his wife moved in. R. p. 38. On cross examination, he explained that he never just wandered over or stopped by Appellant's home, but he would receive an invitation to come over, which was typically communicated in various ways. R. pp. 50-51.

On cross examination, he agreed that he told law enforcement during his first interview that he had put it all out of his mind and moved on. R. p. 42, lns. 4-9. He also agreed it was not on his mind during his teenage years or into his adult life, and he did not try to recall these things until his brother came forward. R. p. 42, lns. 10-116. He explained that his brother did not discuss going to law enforcement with him, but his brother called him and his parents to tell them he was going to the police. R. p. 42, lns. 17-23.

Following the testimony of victim one, the State called victim two to the stand. R. p. 60. Victim two testified that he was twenty-two years of age and he graduated high school one year after his brother (victim one). R. pp. 60-61. He recalled knowing Appellant since he was about

five and explained that he first knew him as the associate leader of the church youth choir and later as a neighbor living two doors down from his family. R. p. 61. When asked about his relationship with Appellant, he described him as an “authority figure” and explained that “he [Appellant] was a young adult and he made efforts to be more personable than strictly an authority figure.” R. p. 62, lns. 4-11. He acknowledged that Appellant was a friend to his parents and his brother. R. p. 62.

When asked if anything inappropriate happened during a trip his family took with Appellant to Dafuskie Island, he remembered an incident but explained that he did not have the perspective to say if it was “inappropriate.” R. p. 62, ln. 17 – p. 63, ln. 7. He remembered Appellant was reading the brothers a book on a bed, and he could see the indentation of his penis through his boxers. R. p. 62, ln. 17- p. 63, ln. 7.

Following the Dafuskie trip, he recalled Appellant giving him massages, as follows: “He would have me lay on the bed in his attic and he’d first start massaging my legs and just moving his hands like gradually up and down my body, massaging along the way going under clothes. And there were incidents where he also touched my penis underneath.” R. p. 63, lns. 17-21. When asked more specific questions, he responded that he would be on his back and stomach during the massages, that Appellant would straddle and be beside him and both he and Appellant would have on their clothes. R. pp. 64-65. On cross examination, he explained that Appellant did not straddle him but he was on the side of him during the massages. R. pp. 82-83.

Victim two approximated that there were four massages, and he testified about the details of what occurred. R. pp. 64-67, 84. As to the first one, he confirmed that it involved “fondling” of his penis, but he explained: “So, it wasn’t strictly speaking masturbation. It was just playing with it like pushing it to the side.” R. p. 66, lns. 24-25. In response to whether the nature of the

touching changed from the first to the last massage, he responded – “No.” R. p. 67, lns. 3-5. On direct, he testified that all the massages took place in the attic of Appellant’s home, but on cross he stated mostly in the attic. R. p. 67, lns. 9-10, p. 84, lns. 15-19.

He recalled his brother being present during the some of the massages but “usually nothing happened.” R. p. 75, lns. 20-24, p. 76. Other than the night where they played truth or dare, he did not recall seeing anything happen between victim one and Appellant. R. p. 75. On cross examination, he testified that no masturbation occurred during the massages, but he did masturbate Appellant during truth or dare. R. p. 86. On cross examination, he stated that he went to Appellant’s home with and without his brother. R. p. 83.

After being asked to explain “another instance,” victim two detailed a day where he and his brother had spent a considerable amount of time with Appellant and stayed overnight at his house. R. p. 67, lns. 21-25. They watched a movie and a game of truth or dare was initiated that became “sexual in nature with the dares” before going to bed. R. p. 67, ln. 25 – p. 68, ln. 4. He recounted dares involving “dry humping” and giving and receiving oral sex. R. p. 67, lns. 2-9, p. 88. He detailed the dares involving oral sex and recalled all three of them performing and receiving the acts, to include him and his brother on each other. R. pp. 69-70. He recalled Appellant being uncircumcised. R. p. 70. After the game, he recalled the three of them went to bed together, and Appellant spooned them.² R. p. 68-69. On cross examination, he dated this event as happening before the massages when he was eight years old. R. pp. 78-80. He further added that masturbation occurred and he saw his brother be masturbated by Appellant, but he was unsure if he saw oral sex performed on his brother. R. pp. 89, 91. He also stated that they were all naked, and Appellant instructed both of them to not talk about it. R. pp. 89-90.

² When asked by the lower court, he detailed what was meant by spoon. R. p. 68, ln. 12 – p. 69, ln. 1.

When asked about Appellant's attic, victim two explained it was not converted into a living space when they first began going over to Appellant's house. R. p. 71. He recalled the attic conversion not being complete on the night they played truth or dare and testified again that the truth or dare night was prior to the massages. R. pp. 71-72.

He also recalled a time in Appellant's attic where Appellant showed them how to hogtie someone by demonstrating it on each of them. R. p. 74. He recalled nothing sexual happening during that instance and no other instances involving ropes in the attic. R. p. 74.

Victim two testified about Appellant teaching him to play chess and he and his brother being involved in chess club during his fifth grade year. He recalled Appellant being involved in the school chess club and throwing a party in his attic to celebrate the end of a tournament. R. p. 72. On cross examination, he was asked about a chess club picture from 2008, and he wavered on whether the massages occurred before or after the picture. R. pp. 77-79.

To conclude his direct testimony, he recalled an instance where he was walking with Appellant and his brother in the forest behind their subdivision when Appellant sat down and revealed his penis. He remembered picking up an ant, putting it on Appellant's penis and it biting Appellant. R. p. 76. He could not recall anything inappropriate occurring after Appellant's wedding. R. pp. 70, 93.

On cross examination, he was asked if he ever recalled being naked with Appellant, and he responded that there was one instance of skinny dipping at Appellant's parent's house. R. p. 84. He recalled Appellant's parents not being home, his brother being present and going back and forth between the pool and Jacuzzi. R. pp. 84-85.

Following victim two's testimony, the State called the victims' mother to clear up some dates. R. p. 94. She recalled that her family took a trip to Dafuskie Island with Appellant in June

2005. R. p. 95, lns. 1-5. She testified that her sons spent time at Appellant's residence following the Dafuskie trip. Tr. p. 95. She also recalled providing Appellant carpet while he was redoing his attic in 2007, and Appellant hosting a chess party for the boys in May of 2008. R. pp. 95-96. Finally, she testified that her husband was in Appellant's wedding on July 25, 2009, and she recalled Appellant staying at their house the night before. R. pp. 96-97.

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