STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 13 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001983

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JULIO ANDRES CASTILLO,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway  
York, SC 29745  
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court correctly admitted evidence of Castillo's prior sexual abuse against a different victim because it showed the existence of a common plan and sexual intent.**

Evidence supports the trial court's ruling admitting evidence of Castillo's prior abuse of Lyle Witness to prove the allegations of abuse of Victim. The Lyle evidence was not admitted to show Castillo possessed bad character or a general propensity to sexual misconduct. Rather, it showed that Castillo's abuse of Victim was carried out pursuant to a pre-formed plan. Furthermore, Lyle evidence was admissible to show that Castillo's massages of Victim were done with "sexual intent," as was necessary to meet the elements of the Lewd Act indictments. Accordingly, the Lyle testimony was admissible under SCRE Rule 404(B). This Court should affirm.

### **A. Error preservation.**

Castillo's argument is not preserved for review because he did not object when the Lyle evidence was offered at trial. (R.p.368-97). State v. Young, Op.No. 5795 (S.C. Ct.App. filed January 28, 2021); State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996) (explaining the "failure to object when evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to raise the issue on appeal"); State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (holding "contemporaneous objection" is required to preserve issue for appeal); State v. Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 499, 552 S.S.2d 284, 286 (2001) ("An *in limine* ruling is not final and contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue for appeal.").

Castillo may argue that any objection would have been futile because the trial court considered the evidence in a pretrial hearing and granted the State's motion to present Lyle testimony.<sup>1</sup> Such an argument would invite this Court to infer Castillo's objection to the entirety of Lyle Witness's testimony. This would violate the requirement that an objection be entered on a specific ground at trial to preserve an issue for appeal. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997). If Castillo had objected during Lyle Witness's trial testimony, this Court would have a record of specific objections to review, tailored to specific pieces of testimony. Instead, the Court is forced to take an all-or-nothing approach; to infer an objection to all of the Lyle testimony, or none at all.

This is not a case where admission of the evidence came directly after the court's in limine ruling. See State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (excusing failure to object where evidence was offered immediately after in limine ruling). Rather, the hearing and trial testimony were separated by two days, during which jury selection, opening statements and jury charge, and the testimony of four witnesses occurred. See State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 613, 486 S.E.2d 762, 766 (Ct. App. 1997) (holding a ruling made during an in camera hearing to determine the admissibility of the victim's sister's testimony was not sufficient to preserve the issue where, after the in camera hearing, testimony was provided from two other witnesses, a break was taken, and then the victim's sister testified

---

<sup>1</sup> The State requested this hearing to demonstrate the occurrence of the prior bad acts by clear and convincing evidence.

without objection). Castillo should not be allowed to make arguments on appeal based on objections he failed to make at trial. Because the issue is not preserved for review, this Court should affirm.

**B. Lyle evidence was admissible to show Castillo's preexisting plan and intent.**

"Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion . . . ." SCRE 404(A). In other words, evidence of prior bad acts is "not admissible to prove that an accused is a bad person" and therefore committed the alleged crime. United States v. Woods, 484 F.2d 127, 133 (4th Cir. 1973).

However, evidence of prior bad acts is admissible if it "serves some legitimate purpose . . . ." State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 30, 842 S.E.2d 654, 657 (2020), reh'g denied (June 10, 2020). SCRE Rule 404(B) gives "examples of legitimate purposes" for which evidence of prior crimes may be admitted. Perry, 430 S.C. at 30, 842 S.E.2d at 657 (2020); see also Woods, 484 F.2d at 134 (explaining "evidence of other offenses may be received, if relevant, for any purpose other than to show a mere propensity or disposition on the part of the defendant to commit the crime"). These legitimate purposes include: "to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent." SCRE 404(B). "[T]o justify a finding that evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is offered for a legitimate purpose . . . South Carolina courts have required a logical relevancy or connection between the other crime and some disputed fact or element of the crime charged." Perry, 430 S.C. at 31, 842 S.E.2d at 658.

While "the appellate courts of this state have refused to recognize a specific exception to the inadmissibility of prior bad act evidence in criminal sexual conduct cases," Perry, 430 S.C. at 35, 842 S.E.2d at 660, commenters have noted that courts seem "particularly receptive" to admitting 404(B) evidence in sexual abuse cases. David P. Leonard, The New Wigmore. A Treatise on Evidence: Evidence of Other Misconduct and Similar Events §9.4.2 (2d. Ed. 2020 supp.); Danny R. Collins, South Carolina Evidence 328–30 (2nd Ed. 2000). While the "examples" of legitimate purposes listed in Rule 404(B) are not exclusive, the Lyle evidence in this case fits squarely within two of the enumerated purposes: "common scheme or plan" and intent.

**a. Common scheme or plan.**

While evidence of a "common scheme or plan" may be used to show acts were committed as part of a "linked" or "continuing course" of conduct, proof of a single continuous operation or conspiratorial scheme is not required under this exception. Rather, the common scheme or plan exception is commonly applied to "unlinked" crimes which are both carried out with the use of a distinctive, preconceived method. In this way, the "common scheme or plan" exception resembles the "identity" or "modus operandi" exception. However, evidence of "method" or "plan" is admissible in cases in which the identity of the perpetrator is not in question. "Where the very doing of the act charged is in issue and is to be evidenced, one of the evidential facts admissible . . . is the person's plan or design to do the act. Now this plan or design itself may be evidenced by his conduct, and such conduct may

consist of other similar acts so connected as to indicate a common purpose, including in its scope the act charged." David P. Leonard, The New Wigmore. A Treatise on Evidence: Evidence of Other Misconduct and Similar Events §9.1 (2d. Ed. 2020 supp.).

However, mere "[r]epetition of the same act or same crime does not equal a 'plan.'" Perry, 430 S.C. at 41, 842 S.E.2d at 663. Repetition of a similar act could just as easily result from an impulsive decision to act at a similarly opportune moment. Rather, a plan is "an idea harbored in a person's mind." Wigmore §9.2.2. Legitimate "plan" evidence will demonstrate that the actor employed a premeditated "process" in order to achieve a desired result. The previous use of the same unique "method" is admissible because it helps to prove that the perpetrator's charged conduct was in fact carried out pursuant to a plan. As the text of Rule 404(B) itself provides, the *existence of a plan*, in and of itself, carries inherent probative force because it makes it more likely that the charged acts occurred. SCRE Rule 404(B) (providing prior bad act evidence is admissible to show "the existence of" a common scheme or plan); Perry, 430 S.C. at 42, 842 S.E.2d at 663 (explaining prior bad act evidence "had a logical connection to *whether a crime was committed*") (emphasis added).

"Common scheme or plan" evidence is commonly introduced in sexual abuse cases to prove "unlinked" crimes. The trials of nationally-known figures like Bill Cosby and Harvey Weinstein provide visible contemporary examples of "plan" evidence carried out by serial sexual offenders. See Commonwealth v. Cosby, 2019

Pa. Super. 354, 224 A.3d 372, 402 (2019), appeal granted in part, 236 A.3d 1045 (Pa. 2020) (affirming use of prior bad act evidence showing "a predictable pattern" of predatory behavior in unlinked sexual assault cases). The use of such evidence in sexual abuse prosecutions is well-established in South Carolina. See Perry, 430 S.C. at 34, 842 S.E.2d at 659.

For years, South Carolina courts reduced the "common scheme or plan" analysis to a "mathematical exercise where the number of similarities and dissimilarities are counted." State v. Durant, 430 S.C. 98, 105, 844 S.E.2d 49, 53 (2020), reh'g denied (July 8, 2020). Our Supreme Court overruled this analysis in Perry and its companion cases of State v. Durant, 430 S.C. 98, 844 S.E.2d 49 (2020), and State v. Cotton, 430 S.C. 112, 844 S.E.2d 56 (2020). The court explained that similarity, without a logical connection, does not automatically justify the admission of prior bad act evidence. However, as was made clear in the Perry court's subsequent analysis, the degree of similarity between the prior and charged acts is a crucial component of the analysis. Perry, 430 S.C. at 44, 842 S.E.2d at 665 (noting "[s]imilarity can be important" to proving the existence of a plan and citing Durant and Cotton as examples).

In short, proof of prior acts carried out in a uniquely similar fashion tends to prove that the defendant acted pursuant to a preconceived plan when committing the alleged crime. This knowledge makes it more likely that the alleged acts actually occurred. The following facts justify admission of Lyle evidence under the "common scheme or plan" exception in this case.

**i. Mentor relationship**

While Castillo's distinctive method of initiating physical abuse through massages, discussed below, is the evidence that most directly brings this case within the "common plan" exception, it is important to view this specific "method" within wider context to show how Castillo used his position of influence to bring about scenarios conducive to initiating physical abuse. The massages were a part of a broader "scheme."

As the prosecutor argued, Castillo used his position as a mentor figure and family friend to "gain access" and facilitate his sexual abuse of both boys. (R.p.488). Both Victim and Lyle Witness testified Castillo spent a great deal of time with their families and was a regular guest at family gatherings such as birthday parties and holidays. (R.p.247; 388). As discussed above in the fact section (pp. 5–6; 10–11), Castillo cultivated a mentor relationship with both boys. To both, Castillo became something less than a parent, but more authoritative than a peer. They both described Castillo as a friend and confidant, someone from whom they could seek advice. Victim described Castillo as "a mentor to me. Throughout my childhood he was somebody that I looked up to. That I respected. That was also a friend of mine." (R.p.236). Similarly, Lyle Witness testified they "had a friendship where, you know, we can talk about pretty much anything. I knew him during a lot of times like in my life where there were a lot of changes going on and so I think that again I had a lot of questions as far as just how things worked and just—I don't know, getting older. Growing up." (R.p.435).

It is true that not all of the abusive conduct can be fairly said to have been the immediate result of careful orchestration. For example, the first instances of Castillo performing masturbation on both boys came about as ostensible "teaching moments" brought on by questions from Victim and Lyle Witness, who first broached the subject with Castillo. In return, Castillo offered to "show" them how to masturbate. (R.p.102; 221).

But Castillo clearly cultivated the relationships and manufactured circumstances that made the abuse possible. Even giving Castillo the benefit of the doubt that his entire relationship with the boys' families was not orchestrated for the sole purpose of grooming them for sexual exploitation, it is clear that once this relationship was developed, Castillo found ways to use it to his advantage. Both Victim and Lyle Witness testified that Castillo often invited them over to play video games and do other fun activities at his house. (R.p.216; 391). Both testified Castillo would often give them rides to school, take them on special outings, and invite them over for sleepovers. (R.p.248-49; 389). By creating circumstances conducive to abuse, Castillo was able to put his more specific plan into action.

These larger circumstances show the nature of Castillo's broader scheme: to "exercise[] his position of trust" as a mentor and family friend to facilitate sexual abuse. State v. Durant, 430 S.C. 98, 106, 844 S.E.2d 49, 53 (2020), reh'g denied (July 8, 2020). But it was Castillo's use of the same distinct method of initiating physical abuse that firmly proves his abuse of Victim was carried out according to a

plan, and most clearly brings this case within the "common scheme or plan" exception.

**ii. Unique method of abuse: massages.**

If Castillo's cultivation of mentor relationships with Victim and Lyle Witness was in some respects too "ad hoc" or "general" to be considered strong evidence of a carefully orchestrated method of abuse, the testimony regarding his mode of initiating physical abuse directly reveals the existence of a particular plan. Both Victim and Lyle Witness testified to Castillo's unique method of gradually escalating physical conduct beginning with massages. They described the massages in remarkably consistent detail. Both boys were in approximately third grade when the massages began. (R.p.255; 556). They both testified that the massages began with them lying face down, with Castillo massaging the back side of their body. (R.p.219; 379). Castillo would then flip them over and massage the front side of their bodies. They both testified that there were multiple times—before the massages progressed to masturbation—where Castillo's hands would "brush" against their penis, so that it seemed "inadvertent." (R.p.220; 379). They both testified that this desensitizing process went on for some time before finally progressing to overtly sexual acts. Victim testified Castillo used the "same process" each time he massaged him. (R.p.219). This continued for an extended time before the abuse turned explicitly sexual.

These facts are similar to those of State v. Scott, 405 S.C. 489, 748 S.E.2d 236 (Ct. App. 2013). There, the evidence showed Scott's sexual abuse of his daughters

bore a striking similarity to his previous, unconnected abuse of his girlfriend's cousin. The primary link was Scott's employment of massages carried out in a consistent pattern:

[M]uch of 404(b) Witness April's testimony coincided with the Victims' specific allegations: abuse occurred when she spent the night at Appellant's residence; abuse occurred when Appellant was the only supervising adult; abuse occurred at bath time; Appellant would dry her off after a bath, focusing on her buttocks and genitalia, despite her being self-sufficient; Appellant rubbed lotion on her entire body; Appellant played hide and seek, whereby one child was separated from the other(s) for an extended period of time; Appellant climbed into her bed and placed his hands in her panties and rubbed her genitals; and abuse first occurred when she was approximately eight years old. Because these similarities were shared between the four Victims' collective testimony and April's testimony, the evidence was highly probative.

State v. Scott, 405 S.C. 489, 507, 748 S.E.2d 236, 246 (Ct. App. 2013). Like Scott, Castillo employed a specific, consistent method of initiating sexual abuse that proves he was acting according to a plan.

The facts also resemble those of State v. McClellan, 283 S.C. 389, 323 S.E.2d 772 (1984). There, the Supreme Court explained that prior bad act evidence was properly admitted because the defendant used a common "method of attack" to sexually abuse his three daughters. McClellan "developed a particularized plan for sexually assaulting his children," including the recitation of a bible verse and an explanation that he was "teaching them how to be with their husbands." McClellan, 283 S.C. at 391, 323 S.E.2d at 773; Perry, 430 S.C. at 42, 842 S.E.2d at 663 (discussing McClellan). Like McClellan's actions, Castillo's conduct exemplifies the sort of obviously premeditated conduct admissible under Rule 404(B). His rationalization of his conduct as merely "showing" Victim and Lyle Witness also

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